Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-30-2020

State v. Wheeler Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48043

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Rebecca Dawn Wheeler appeals the district court's denial of her motion to suppress evidence obtained after officers entered the bedroom of her home, without a search warrant and without her consent, in order to execute a warrant for her arrest. Ms. Wheeler acknowledges that an arrest warrant "implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within." *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 602-03 (1980). However, and mindful of the district court's factual findings that the officers had entered the residence after confirming that the address was the same as the address on Ms. Wheeler's driver's license, and after being informed by a woman in the driveway that Ms. Wheeler was inside, Ms. Wheeler claims that the officers' intrusion into her home violated her Fourth Amendment rights. She respectfully requests that the order denying suppression be reversed.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

On September 12, 2019, at approximately 10:30 in the morning, two Twin Falls Police Officers, Nate Egan and Martin Becerra, were dispatched to an address on Adams Street in response to a 911 call. (12/6/19 Tr., p.13, Ls.18-24.)¹ According to the dispatch officer, the caller reported that she lived with Ms. Wheeler at that address, that Ms. Wheeler was currently at the home, at that Ms. Wheeler had an arrest warrant. (9/20/19 Tr., p.5, L.4 – p.13, L.4.) The caller provided her first name and her phone number, and said she was Ms. Wheeler's sister.

¹ There are three transcripts relevant to this appeal. The transcript of the suppression hearing, held December 6, 2019 ("12/6/19 Tr."), the transcript of the guilty plea hearing, held February 18, 2019 ("2/18/2020 Tr."), and the transcript of the preliminary hearing, held September 20, 2019 ("9/20/19 Tr."). The transcript of the preliminary hearing transcript, which was admitted as an exhibit at the suppression hearing, is contained within the Exhibits, at pages pp.24-54.

(9/20/19 Tr., p.5, Ls.4-25; State's Exhibit 1 (911 call recording).) Prior to arriving at the Adams Street address, Officer Egan confirmed on his in-car computer that Ms. Wheeler had an active arrest warrant.² (12/6/19 Tr., p.14, Ls.9-22; *see* Ex., pp.1-4 (Exhibit A).) Additionally, Officer Egan pulled up Ms. Wheeler's driver's license information, including her photo, "as well as her name, date of birth, home address, and then her physical description." (12/6/19 Tr., p.15, Ls.7-23.) He noted that the Adams Street address was the same as the address on Ms. Wheeler's driver's license. (12/6/19 Tr., p.15, L.23 – p.16, L.1; *see* Ex., pp.5-7 (Exhibit C).)

When the officers arrived at the Adams Street address, Officer Egan encountered a woman in the driveway who had come from the back of the house. (12/6/19 Tr., p.18, L.10 – p.19, L.2.) The woman claimed to be the person who had made the call, although the officers did not verify her identity at that time. (12/6/19 Tr., p.17, L.20 – p.19, L.2, p.25, Ls.5-13.) The woman told Officer Egan that he could find Ms. Wheeler in the basement bedroom by going through the backdoor of house and she gave directions to that room; then the woman got in her car and drove away. (12/6/19 Tr., p.17, L.20 – p.22, L.23.)

The two officers went into the home through the unlocked backdoor and walked toward the bedroom. (State's Ex.1 (Officer Egan's Bodycam video ("Video") at 0:14-55.) Through an open door, Officer Egan recognized Ms. Wheeler from her driver's license photo, then entered the bedroom and arrested her. (9/20/19 Tr., p.15, Ls.11-15; 9/20/19 Tr., p.15, Ls.11-15, p.23, Ls.4-25; Video, 0:55-3:00.) Officer Egan also seized apparent drug evidence from the table in front of Ms. Wheeler, and he searched inside the purse Ms. Wheeler was wearing, finding other drug evidence. (9/20/19 Tr., p.7, L.4 – p.8, L.12.)

² Ms. Wheeler does not dispute the validity of the arrest warrant.

The State charged Ms. Wheeler with two counts of possessing controlled substances and one count of possessing drug paraphernalia. (R., pp.11-12.) Ms. Wheeler filed a motion to suppress, contending that the officers' conduct was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, because the officers had entered her home and bedroom without a search warrant, without her consent, and without other valid consent or authority. (R., pp.26-28.) She additionally submitted a memorandum in support of her motion. (*See* Ex., pp.13-31 (Exhibit E).)³

Following an evidentiary hearing, in a ruling from the bench, the district court denied Ms. Wheeler's motion. (12/6/19 Tr., p.57, L.7.) The court observed that "arrest warrant[s] . . . carry with them the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within." (12/6/19 Tr., p.51, Ls.10-13.) The district court went on to find that the officer's confirmation of the Adams Street address as the address on Ms. Wheeler's driver's license, and the information from dispatch along with the information from the woman in the driveway, supported a reasonable belief that Ms. Wheeler lived at the residence and could be found inside. (12/6/19 Tr., p.51, L.14 – p.53, L.4.)⁴ Ms. Wheeler subsequently entered a conditional guilty plea, admitting all charges and expressly reserving her right to appeal the district court's decision denying her suppression motion. (R., p.76; 2/28/2020 Tr., p.5, L.22 - p.20, L.25.) The district court sentenced Ms. Wheeler to a suspended sentence of six years, with three years fixed, and placed her on probation. (R., pp.97-105.)

Ms. Wheeler filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R., p.106.)

³ Pursuant to the parties' stipulation, Ms. Wheeler's supporting memorandum was submitted as an exhibit at the hearing. (12/6/19 Tr., p.58, L.21 – p.L.7; Ex, pp.13-54 (Exhibit E).)

⁴ The district court additionally found that the officers had obtained valid consent to enter the residence from the woman in the driveway, specifically finding that the woman had apparent authority to give consent to enter the house and its common areas. (12/6/19 Tr., p.53, Ls.5-25, p.57, Ls.10-16.)

ISSUE

Did the district court err in denying Ms. Wheeler's motion to suppress?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred In Denying Ms. Wheeler's Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Ms. Wheeler claims the officers violated her Fourth Amendment right when, without a search warrant and without obtaining valid consent, the officers entered her home and came into her bedroom. Though she does not dispute that the officers' purpose was to execute a warrant for her arrest, she asserts the officers' conduct was constitutionally unreasonable, and that the district court's contrary conclusions are erroneous. She asks this Court to reverse the district court's order denying suppression, to vacate her judgment of conviction, and to remand her case to the district court.

B. Standard Of Review

When reviewing a trial court's order granting or denying a defendant's motion to suppress, the appellate court defers to the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Bishop*, 146 Idaho 804, 810 (2009). Factual findings supported by substantial and competent evidence are not clearly erroneous. *State v. Henage*, 143 Idaho 655, 659 (2007). "Decisions regarding the credibility of witnesses, weight to be given to conflicting evidence, and factual inferences to be drawn are also within the discretion of the trial court." *Bishop*, 146 Idaho at 804. However, the appellate court maintains free review over whether the facts surrounding a search and seizure satisfy constitutional requirements. *Henage*, 143 Idaho at 658.

C. The State Failed To Carry Its Burden Of Demonstrating That The Warrantless Entry Of Ms. Wheeler’s Residence Was Constitutionally Reasonable

As recognized by the Idaho Supreme Court,

The Fourth Amendment protects the individual’s privacy in a variety of settings. In none is the zone of privacy more clearly defined than when bounded by the unambiguous physical dimensions of an individual’s home—a zone that finds its roots in clear and specific constitutional terms: ‘The right of the people to be secure in their ... houses ... shall not be violated.’ That language unequivocally establishes the proposition that ‘at the very core of the Fourth Amendment stands the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion.’ In terms that apply equally to seizures of property and to seizures of persons, the Fourth Amendment has drawn a firm line at the entrance to the house. Absent exigent circumstances, that threshold may not reasonably be crossed without a warrant.

State v. Maland, 140 Idaho 817, 822 (2004) (quoting *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. at 589) (citations and internal brackets omitted).

Evidence obtained in violation of Fourth Amendment protections is subject to the exclusionary rule, which requires the suppression of both primary evidence obtained as a direct result of an illegal search or seizure, and evidence later discovered and found to be derivative of an illegality, that is, “fruit of the poisonous tree.” See *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484–85 (1963); *State v. Guzman*, 122 Idaho 981, 988-98 (1992).

However, an arrest warrant “implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within.” *Payton* 445 U.S. at 602-03; accord *State v. Dycus*, 154 Idaho 456, 459 (Ct. App. 2013); *State v. Northover*, 133 Idaho 655, 658 (Ct. App. 1990). As explained in *Northover*, “[t]he same conduct that is deemed unreasonable, and thus violative of the constitution, in the absence of a warrant, may be deemed reasonable when the police are acting under the authorization of a warrant.” 133 Idaho 655, 658 (Ct. App. 1990).

In this case, the district court concluded that the officers' purpose for entering the residence was to execute the arrest warrant and that the officers had sufficient facts to support a reasonable belief that Ms. Wheeler lived at the residence and was presently inside. (12/6/19 Tr., p.51, L.14 – p.53, L.4.) Specifically, the court found that the officers had confirmed the address of the residence was the address on Ms. Wheeler's driver's license, and that when the officers arrived at the residence, a person coming from the residence confirmed that Ms. Wheeler was inside. (12/6/19 Tr., p.51, L.14 – p.53, L.4.) Mindful of these findings, which are supported by the evidence in the record (*see generally* 12/6/19 Tr., p.11, L.5 – p.42, L.8; Exhibits, pp.1-12), Ms. Wheeler asserts the officers' intrusion into her home, and specifically into her bedroom, violated her constitutional rights, and that the district court erred in failing to suppress the evidence resulting from that violation.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Wheeler respectfully asks this Court to reverse the district court's order denying her motion to suppress, and remand her case to the district court so that she may withdraw her guilty plea, in accordance with the terms of her plea agreement.