Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-2-2021

State v. Wheeler Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48043

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Rebecca Dawn Wheeler appeals from the district court's denial of her motion to suppress.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

Law enforcement received a report that Wheeler was living at a residence and had an active warrant out for her arrest. (See R., p.14.) Law enforcement went to that address, entered the residence, saw and recognized Wheeler inside, and arrested her. (R., p.14.) Law enforcement seized a bag of marijuana that was in plain view in the bedroom, as well as methamphetamine and a glass pipe found in Wheeler's purse, which she was wearing on her person at the time of the arrest. (R., p.14.) The state charged Wheeler with felony possession of methamphetamine, felony possession of marijuana, and misdemeanor possession of paraphernalia. (R., pp.34-35.)

Wheeler filed a motion to suppress. (R., pp.26-27; Ex. E.) The district court held a hearing on the motion, prior to which it reviewed the 911 call and officers' on-body videos. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.5, Ls.9-22; Ex. 1.¹) On the 911 call, a woman who identified herself as Joanie reported that her sister Wheeler was living with her and had a warrant out for her arrest. (Ex.1 (911 Call).) The caller provided dispatch with the address of a residence on Adams Street, as well as her phone number so officers could contact her when they arrived. (Ex.1 (911 Call).)

Officer Nate Egan was dispatched to the Adams Street residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.13, Ls.8-17.) He confirmed that there was a valid warrant for Wheeler's arrest, which authorized residential execution. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.14, Ls.3-22; see also Ex. B.) He also pulled up

¹ The state provided the district court with an electronic disk containing the 911 call audio, as well as both officers' body camera videos. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.5, Ls.9-17.) That disk was admitted as Exhibit 1. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.4; p.11, Ls.5-13.) Citations to Exhibit 1 will indicate the specific file being referenced.

Wheeler's information, including her driver's license photo. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.14, L.12 – p.15, L.15; Ex. C.) The address associated with Wheeler matched the Adams Street address the caller provided. (12/6/2019 Tr., 15, L.23 – p.16, L.1; Ex. C.)

When the officers arrived at the Adams Street address, they saw a woman walking out to her car. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.16, Ls.14-15.) Officer Egan asked the woman if she was the calling party; she said she was and gave a detailed description of Wheeler's location in the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.16, Ls.15-21.) Officer Egan testified the woman appeared to be a resident and he had no reason not to believe that the address was her residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.18, Ls.12-17.) Although he did not identify her at that time, Officer Egan testified he recognized the woman at the preliminary hearing; he identified her thereafter as Joanie Wheeler² based on her driver's license information, which listed her address as the Adams Street residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.18, Ls.5-11; p.19, Ls.5-16; Ex. D.)

Officer Egan followed Joanie's instructions to locate Wheeler in the house; he entered the back of the residence into a common area, walked through a short hallway into another common area that was turned into a makeshift bedroom, and from there saw Wheeler sitting in a bedroom. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.17, L.22 – p.18, L.4; p.23, Ls.7-12.) Officer Egan arrested Wheeler pursuant to the warrant. (See Ex. 1 (Officer Egan Body Camera Video, 0:55-2:15).)

Officer Martin Becerra was also dispatched to execute the arrest warrant. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.27, Ls.12-15.) Prior to arriving at the Adams Street residence, he ran Wheeler's information. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.27, L.22 – p.28, L.4.) He verified there was an active warrant for Wheeler's

² For clarity, Joanie Wheeler will be referred to as Joanie and the defendant Rebecca Wheeler will be referred to as Wheeler.

arrest, viewed her license photo, and confirmed the Adams Street address matched Wheeler's listed address. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.28, Ls.5-20.)

Joanie testified she had been living at the Adams Street address for about two years at that time. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.33, Ls.13-17.) Her mother and husband also lived with her. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.33, Ls.18-20.) Wheeler had been living at the residence for about a week and her daughter occasionally came and stayed the night. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.33, Ls.20-25.) Joanie's mother owned the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.34, Ls.7-8.) Joanie testified she called 911 to report Wheeler. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.35, Ls.1-5; p.37, Ls.4-5.) She also testified she gave law enforcement permission to enter the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.36, Ls.5-12.)

The district court issued its decision on the record. The district court found that, before entering the residence, Officer Egan confirmed Wheeler had an active warrant, viewed her license information and photo, and saw that her address on file matched the Adams Street address where Joanie reported Wheeler was located. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.50, L.19 – p.51, L.5.) The district court also concluded the officers had a reasonable belief Wheeler was inside her residence at that time. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.51, Ls.14-18.) Because an arrest warrant grants law enforcement limited authority to enter a suspect's residence if the officers have reasonable belief that the suspect is within, the district court concluded the officers operated within the bounds of that limited authority when they entered the residence and arrested Wheeler.³ (12/6/2019 Tr., p.51, Ls.6-24.)

The district court also noted that, although the officers did not need consent to enter the residence because of the limited authority granted by virtue of the arrest warrant, they nonetheless received such consent from Joanie. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.51, Ls.18-21.) Even without actual authority

³ The district court noted that if Wheeler did not live at that residence, she would have no standing to challenge her arrest. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.55, L.4 – p.56, L.8.)

to give consent (which the district court indicated Joanie “[p]robably” had), Joanie had the apparent authority to consent to the officers’ entry of the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.52, Ls.18-19.) Joanie told dispatch she lived at the residence, waited for officers to arrive, gave the officers permission to enter, and provided a detailed and accurate description of the layout and Wheeler’s location in the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.52, Ls.19-25; p.53, Ls.6-11.) The district court concluded Joanie had actual or apparent authority to give, and did in fact give, officers permission to enter the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.53, Ls.5-11.)

Further, the district court found the officers saw Wheeler in her bedroom in plain sight from a common area of the residence. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.54, Ls.8-14.) “[T]he officer had the absolute legal right to be where he was when he then recognized her and she acknowledged that she was Rebecca Wheeler.” (12/6/2019 Tr., p.54, Ls.14-16.) Therefore, the district court denied Wheeler’s motion to suppress. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.57, L.7; see also R., p.120.)

Thereafter, Wheeler entered a conditional guilty plea to all charges, specifically reserving her right to appeal the district court’s denial of her motion to suppress. (R., pp.50-51, 61-81; 2/18/2020 Tr., p.24, L.16 – p.27, L.5.) The district court sentenced Wheeler to six years with three years fixed and suspended the sentence. (R., pp.97-101.) Wheeler filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.106-08, 122-25.)

ISSUE

Wheeler states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court err in denying Ms. Wheeler's motion to suppress?

(Appellant's brief, p.4.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Wheeler failed to show that the district court erred when it denied her motion to suppress?

ARGUMENT

Wheeler Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred When It Denied Her Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Wheeler argues the district court erred in denying her motion to suppress evidence obtained in conjunction with her arrest pursuant to a valid arrest warrant.⁴ (Appellant’s brief, pp.5-7.) “[M]indful” of the district court’s factual findings, she argues the officers’ entry into her home nonetheless violated her Fourth Amendment rights. (Appellant’s brief, p.1.) The district court properly concluded the officers acted within their limited authority to execute an arrest warrant at a suspect’s residence when they entered the home to arrest Wheeler. Further, Wheeler does not challenge the district court’s alternative conclusion that the officers were given consent to enter the home by another resident. Therefore, the district court did not err and this Court should affirm its denial of Wheeler’s motion to suppress.

B. Standard Of Review

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court’s findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. State v. Klingler, 143 Idaho 494, 496, 148 P.3d 1240, 1242 (2006). “At a suppression hearing, the power to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve factual conflicts, weigh evidence, and draw factual inferences is vested in the trial court.” State v. Pieper, 163 Idaho 732, 734, 418 P.3d 1241, 1243 (Ct. App. 2018).

⁴ Wheeler does not challenge the validity of the arrest warrant. (Appellant’s brief, p.2, n.2.)

C. The District Court Did Not Err When It Denied Wheeler’s Motion To Suppress

The United States Supreme Court has made clear that “an arrest warrant alone will suffice to enter a suspect’s own residence to effect his arrest.” Steagald v. United States, 451 U.S. 204, 221 (1981) (citing Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 602-03 (1980)). That is because “an arrest warrant founded on probable cause implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within.” Wilson v. Layne, 526 U.S. 603, 611 (1999) (quoting Payton, 445 U.S. at 603). Idaho courts have also recognized that arrest warrants grant officers this limited authority to enter a suspect’s residence to effectuate his or her arrest when there is reason to believe the suspect is within. See State v. Dycus, 154 Idaho 456, 459, 299 P.3d 263, 266 (Ct. App. 2013); State v. Northover, 133 Idaho 655, 657, 991 P.2d 380, 382 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Coma, 133 Idaho 29, 32, 981 P.2d 754, 757 (Ct. App. 1999).

The officers acted within the bounds of their authority when they entered Wheeler’s residence pursuant to a valid arrest warrant to effectuate her arrest, based on their reasonable belief she was inside. As the district court found, the officers confirmed Wheeler’s warrant prior to entry. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.50, L.19 – p.51, L.5.) Officers ran and reviewed Wheeler’s information, which showed the Adams Street residence to which they were dispatched as her listed address. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.14, Ls.3-22; p.15, L.23 – p.16, L.1; p.28, Ls.5-20.) The officers were told by dispatch that the caller, a resident of the Adams Street address, reported Wheeler was inside the residence. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.13, Ls.15-20.) When the officers arrived, Joanie told Officer Egan she was the caller and told him exactly where in the residence Wheeler could be found. (12/6/2019 Tr., p.16, Ls.15-21.) The district court properly concluded the officers reasonably believed Wheeler was inside the residence, listed as her own address, and therefore the arrest

warrant gave them authority to enter the residence for the limited purpose of effectuating her arrest. See Wilson, 526 U.S. at 611 (“[T]he officers had such a warrant, and they were undoubtedly entitled to enter the Wilson home in order to execute the arrest warrant for Dominic Wilson.”) The district court did not err when it denied Wheeler’s motion to suppress.

Wheeler “acknowledges that an arrest warrant ‘implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within.’” (Appellant’s brief, p.1 (quoting Payton, 445 U.S. at 602-03).) Further, Wheeler concedes the district court’s factual findings are supported by evidence in the record. (See Appellant’s brief, p.7.) Wheeler has failed to demonstrate error in the district court’s decision.

Even if the arrest warrant alone did not authorize the officers’ entry into the residence, this Court must still affirm. “When a decision is based upon alternative grounds, the fact that one of the grounds may be in error is of no consequence and may be disregarded if the judgment can be sustained upon one of the other grounds.” Andersen v. Prof’l Escrow Servs., Inc., 141 Idaho 743, 746, 118 P.3d 75, 78 (2005) (quotation marks and citation omitted); see also Doe v. Doe, 159 Idaho 461, 464, 362 P.3d 536, 539 (2015). The district court determined Joanie gave the officers permission to enter the residence and she had the actual or apparent authority to do so. (See 12/6/2019 Tr., p.51, L.18 - p.53, L.11.) Wheeler acknowledges this alternative basis for the denial of her motion but does not challenge it on appeal. (See Appellant’s brief, p.3, n.4.) “The district court’s decision was based on alternative grounds, and as such, [Wheeler] bore the burden of demonstrating error in both grounds.” State v. Hayes, 166 Idaho 646, 462 P.3d 1110, 1117 (2020). Wheeler has failed to do so.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.